TGEGKXGF. "3413; 14235"372555. "Iqj p'C0Vqo cukpq. "Engtm"Uwrtgo g"Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC13-____ Lower Tribunal No.: 5D12-1823

HOWARD BROWNING,

Petitioner,

vs.

LYNN ANNE POIRIER,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER, HOWARD BROWNING

Sean P. Sheppard, Esq. Florida Bar No. 67253

500 E. Broward Blvd., Suite 1600 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33394 Telephone: (954) 632-0668 Facsimile: (954) 666-0362 E-mail: <u>sean@sheppardfirm.com</u> *Counsel for Petitioner*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. **Nature of the Case**.-- The case arose from Petitioner's claim that Respondent breached an oral agreement that the parties would buy lottery tickets together, and if they won, they would split the proceeds. Petitioner filed a twocount complaint that was pending before the trial court at the time of a jury trial on February 6-7, 2012 seeking relief upon causes of action for (1) breach of oral contract; and (2) unjust enrichment.

B. Course of Proceedings in the Lower Tribunal.— At the close of the Petitioner's case before the jury, Respondent's counsel moved for directed verdict on both counts. The Trial Judge granted directed verdict on both counts in favor of Respondent. With regard to the cause of action for breach of oral agreement, the trial judge held that the oral agreement was barred by the statute of frauds. Following entry of a directed verdict by the trial judge, Petitioner appealed the matter to the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

C. Disposition in the Lower Tribunal.—Following appeal by Petitioner to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, an opinion was entered on March 8, 2013 reversing the entirety of the decision by the trial judge and remanding the case for a new trial. On March 18, 2013, Respondent's counsel filed a Motion for Rehearing and/or Clarification and/or Certification and Motion for Rehearing *En Banc*. On November 8, 2013, the Fifth District Court of Appeal entered an

Opinion On Motion for Rehearing *En Banc*. In its November 8, 2013 Opinion, the Fifth District Court of Appeal certified the following question to the Florida Supreme Court, which it indicated was a question of great public importance:

> "Is an oral agreement to play the lottery and split the proceeds in the event a winning ticket is purchased unenforceable under the statute of frauds when: there is no time agreed for the complete performance of the agreement; the parties intended the agreement to extend for. Longer than one year and it did extend for a period of fourteen years; and it clearly appears from the surrounding circumstances and the object to be accomplished that the oral agreement would last longer than one year?"

It should be noted that the dissent in the Opinion indicated a different question of great public importance, which Petitioner contends is the more appropriate certified question to be answered on appeal:

> "Is a terminable-at-will agreement to pool lottery winnings unenforceable in the absence of an express agreement to continue the agreement for a period of time exceeding one year, when full performance of the agreement is possible within one year from the inception of the agreement."

As the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed as to the cause of action for Unjust Enrichment and remanded for a new trial on such count, the issues regarding Unjust Enrichment will not be further discussed in this brief. Instead, this brief will focus entirely upon the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision regarding the cause of action for breach of contract.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The *Browning* decision expressly passed upon a question certified by the Fifth District Court of Appeal to be of great public importance. The decision also expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of *Yates v. Ball*, 132 Fla. 132, 181 So. 341 (Fla. 1937) and other decisions within the Second, Third and Fourth districts as set forth below.

ARGUMENT

I. Jurisdiction Should Be Accepted Because The Decision Expressly Passes Upon a Question Certified By The Fifth District Court of Appeal To Be Of Great Public Importance.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision expressly passes upon a question certified to be of great public importance. This certified question should be considered by this Court.

II. Jurisdiction Should Be Accepted Because The Decision Of The Fifth District Court of Appeal Expressly And Directly Conflicts with the Decisions of The Florida Supreme Court And Other District Courts on the Same Important Point of Law.

In addition to the certified question of great public importance, the decision directly and expressly conflicts with previous decisions of this Court and with several other decisions of the Second, Third, and Fourth Districts. Specifically the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case directly conflicts with *Yates v. Ball*, 132 Fla. 132, 181 So. 341 (Fla. 1937) and other cases within the Second, Third and Fourth districts, all of which explicitly held that the statute of

frauds does <u>**not**</u> bar causes of action based upon an alleged oral agreement when no definite time was fixed by the parties for the performance of their agreement and there is nothing in its terms to show that it could not be performed within a year according to its intent and the understanding of the parties. Thus, the Court may accept jurisdiction under Art. V, § 3(b)(3), *Fla. Const.*, and *Fla.R.App.P.* 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

The parties to this action stipulated to certain special jury instructions to be read at the trial in this matter. Among those instructions was the following: "if you determine that there was an oral agreement and that the oral agreement could possibly have been performed within a period of one year, then you must find that the agreement was enforceable." This special jury instruction was specifically agreed to by the Respondent and it cited within the jury instruction to the case of Yates v. Ball, 132 Fla. 132, 181 So. 341 (Fla. 1937) among other cases and references. Petitioner contends that the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in this case directly conflicts with the Yates case in that it effectively changes the standard applied in Yates. Furthermore, as the parties expressly agreed upon the specific and special jury instruction, regardless of any conflict, the parties were bound by the rule of law to be read to the jury. Instead of allowing that to happen, the trial judge in this case took the issue from the jury and applied an entirely different standard than that agreed to by the parties.

The *Yates* case also specifically states that "to make a parol contract void, it must be apparent that it was the understanding of the parties that it was not to be performed within a year from the time it is made." *Yates v. Ball*, 132 Fla. 132, 139, 181 So. 341 (Fla. 1937). This Court went on to state that "[w]hen, as in this case, no definite time was fixed by the parties for the performance of their agreement and there is nothing in its terms to show that it could not be performed within a year according to its intent and the understanding of the parties, it should not be construed as being within the statute of frauds." *Id*. The Fifth District Court of Appeal has rendered a decision in this case that is contrary to the decision in *Yates*.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has rendered a decision in this case that is contrary to *Gulf Solar, Inc. v. Westfall,* 447 So.2d 363 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984). In the Gulf case, the Second District Court of Appeal determined that an oral employment agreement, despite the fact that the parties thereto may have expected the employee to remain employed with the employer for some unknown period of time, the employer was under no obligation to retain the employee and the employee had no obligation to remain in the employ of the employer for any definite period of time. As a result, the Second District Court of Appeal (citing to *Yates v. Ball,* 132 Fla. 132, 181 So. 341 (Fla. 1937) among other cases), held that the oral agreement involved in that case was not barred by the statute of frauds.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has rendered a decision in this case that is contrary to *Acoustic Innovations, Inc. v. Schafer, 976* So.2d 1139, 1143 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008). In *Acoustic* there was again an alleged oral agreement regarding a contention by one party that the other had agreed to convey 50% ownership in a company in exchange for certain consideration. In *Acoustic* the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that "[n]o evidence established the existence of an oral contract incapable of being performed within one year. Miller could have transferred the shares to Schafer immediately after forming the oral agreement, had Schafer requested he do so. The fact that Schafer waited until a year had passed to request the shares is of no import." In Acoustic the principal was again reiterated that if the oral agreement <u>could</u> be performed within a year, then the statute of frauds does not bar the action.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has rendered a decision in this case that is contrary to *Byam v. Klopcich*, 454 So.2d 720 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). In *Byam* there was again an alleged oral employment contract whereby the employer agreed to pay to the employee the greater of \$500 or 20 percent of sales per week, and the employee agreed to work for the employer. In citing to *Yates v. Ball*, 132 Fla. 132, 181 So. 341 (Fla. 1937) among other cases, the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Byam* held that the "general rule is that an oral contract for an indefinite time is not barred by the Statute of Frauds" and "[o]nly if a contract could not possibly be

performed within one year would it fall within the statute." *Byam v. Klopcich*, 454 So.2d 720, 721 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984)(citing *Yates v. Ball*, 132 Fla. 132, 181 So. 341 (Fla. 1937); *Gulf Solar, Inc. v. Westfall*, 447 So.2d 363 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has rendered a decision in this case that is contrary to Wilcox v. Lang Equities, Inc., 588 So.2d 318 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991). In *Wilcox* there was again an oral agreement whereby one party was to sell customers vacations packages for the other party's hotel. There was no definitive term placed upon the duration of the agreement. In citing to Yates v. Ball, 132 Fla. 132, 181 So. 341 (Fla. 1937) among other cases, the Third District Court of Appeal in Wilcox held that "to make a parol contract void, it must be apparent that it was the understanding of the parties that it was not to be performed within a year from the time it is made" and "when no definite time is fixed by the parties for performance of their agreement, and there is nothing in its terms to show that it could not be performed within a year, according to its intent and the understanding of the parties, it should not be construed as being within the statute of frauds." Wilcox v. Lang Equities, Inc., 588 So.2d 318, 320 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991).

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court accept jurisdiction to resolve the conflict between the decision in the instant case and the Florida Supreme Court case of *Yates v. Ball,* 132 Fla. 132, 181 So. 341 (Fla. 1937), as well

as the conflict between the decision in the instant case and the decisions of other

district courts of appeal in the cases of Gulf Solar, Inc. v. Westfall, 447 So.2d 363

(Fla. 2nd DCA 1984), Acoustic Innovations, Inc. v. Schafer, 976 So.2d 1139, 1143

(Fla. 4th DCA 2008), Byam v. Klopcich, 454 So.2d 720 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), and

Wilcox v. Lang Equities, Inc., 588 So.2d 318 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991).

SHEPPARD FIRM, P.A. 500 E. Broward Blvd., Suite 1600 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33394 Telephone: (954) 632-0668 Facsimile: (954) 666-0362 E-mail: <u>sean@sheppardfirm.com</u>

_/s/ Sean P. Sheppard__ Sean P. Sheppard, Esq. Florida Bar No. 67253 *Counsel for Petitioner*