IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC13-2416 Lower Tribunal No.: 5D12-1823

HOWARD BROWNING,

Petitioner,

VS.

LYNN ANNE POIRIER,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, LYNN ANNE POIRIER

SESSUMS LAW GROUP, P.A.

Mark A. Sessums, Esquire Florida Bar No. 818534 Lauren E. Jensen, Esquire Florida Bar No. 106415 2212 S. Florida Avenue Lakeland, FL 33803 Telephone: 863.646.8181 Facsimile: 863.646.2216 msessums@sessumspa.com ssills@sessumspa.com Attorneys for Appellee

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 28, 2005, Petitioner sued Respondent, claiming that Respondent breached a 1992 oral agreement between the parties. Petitioner alleged that the parties agreed to purchase lottery tickets together, and to split equally any winnings.

A jury trial was held on February 6-7, 2012 on two (2) of Petitioner's claims: (1) breach of contract and (2) unjust enrichment. At the close of Petitioner's case-in-chief, Respondent moved for a directed verdict. Respondent argued that the breach of contract count was barred by the statute of frauds. The trial court granted Respondent's motion for directed verdict on both counts.

On May 8, 2012, Petitioner appealed the trial court's decision to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. On March 8, 2013, the Fifth District Court of Appeal authored an opinion reversing the trial court's decision as to both counts and remanding the case for a new trial. However, on March 18, 2013, Respondent's counsel filed a Motion for Rehearing and/or Clarification and/or Certification and Motion for Rehearing *En Banc*, which the Fifth District Court of Appeal subsequently granted. On November 8, 2013, the Fifth District Court of Appeal withdrew the March 8, 2013 panel opinion and substituted a new opinion, which affirmed the trial court's directed verdict regarding the breach of oral contract

count, and reversed the trial court's directed verdict regarding the unjust enrichment count.

As a part of the November 8, 2013 opinion, the Fifth District Court of Appeal certified the following to the Florida Supreme Court as a question of great public importance:

Is an oral agreement to play the lottery and split the proceeds in the event a winning ticket is purchased unenforceable under the statute of frauds when: there is no time agreed for the complete performance of the agreement; the parties intended the agreement to extend for a period longer than one year and it did extend for a period of fourteen years; and it clearly appears from the surrounding circumstances and the object to be accomplished that the oral agreement would last longer than one year?

Following this certification, Petitioner filed his Notice to Invoke Discretionary

Jurisdiction and Jurisdictional Brief of Petitioner.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should exercise jurisdiction based on the question of law certified by the majority as an issue of great public importance. If, however, this Court accepts jurisdiction, it should only consider the question certified below by the majority, and not the question posed by the dissent as argued by Petitioner. This Court should also exercise discretionary jurisdiction on the grounds that the Fifth District Court of Appeal has rendered a decision that is in conflict with the decisions of the Second, Third, and Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Gulf Solar*, *Inc. v. Westfall*, 447 So.2d 363 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), *Byam v. Klopcich*, 454 So.2d 720 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), *Wilcox v. Lang Equities, Inc.*, 588 So.2d 318 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), and *Acoustic Innovations, Inc. v. Schafer*, 976 So.2d 1139 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008). However, the decisions of *Gulf Solar, Byam, Wilcox*, and *Acoustic* are contrary to the law of *Yates v. Ball*, 181 So. 341 (Fla. 1937). This Court should accept jurisdiction and find that the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal below is consistent with the Florida Supreme Court decision of *Yates v. Ball*, and that there are no grounds to certify a conflict between the decision at issue herein and *Yates v. Ball*.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY PASSES UPON A QUESTION CERTIFIED BY THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL TO BE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

Respondent recognizes that a jurisdictional brief shall not be filed if jurisdiction is invoked under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v) (questions of great public importance certified by the district courts to the supreme court). This Court has the discretion to exercise jurisdiction to hear the appeal, as the November 8, 2013 majority opinion contains a question of great public importance. Petitioner, however, urges this Court to consider the question posed by the dissent below. Petitioner's argument ignores that this Court may only exercise jurisdiction over the question certified by the majority of the Fifth District Court of Appeal. *See* Floridians For A Level Playing Field v. Floridians Against Expanded Gambling, 967 So. 2d 832, 833 (Fla. 2007). In Floridians, this Court held that in order to have discretionary jurisdiction based on a certified question, there are three (3) prerequisites that must be met: 1) the district court of appeal must pass upon the question certified by it to be of great public importance; 2) there must be a district court "decision" to review; and 3) "the question **must be in fact certified by a majority decision** of the district court." *Id.* The question posed by the dissent differs from the question certified by the majority in the instant case. Thus, if this Court exercises its discretionary jurisdiction regarding the question certified by the Fifth District Court of Appeal, it must consider the question as certified by the majority opinion, and not the question posed by the dissent.

II. THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT IN *YATES V. BALL*

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has not rendered a decision that is in conflict with the Supreme Court decision in *Yates v. Ball*, 181 So. 341 (Fla. 1937). While Respondent contends that the Fifth District Court of Appeal decision is in conflict with the district court cases cited in Petitioner's jurisdictional brief and addressed below, the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal is not in conflict with the Florida Supreme Court case of *Yates v. Ball*, 181 So. 341 (Fla. 1937). The majority opinion, in fact, relies largely on *Yates* in determining that the

trial court was correct in granting a directed verdict as to the breach of oral contract count. The majority cites the seminal language in *Yates*:

When no time is agreed upon for the complete performance of the contract, if from the object to be accomplished by it and the surrounding circumstances, it clearly appears that the parties <u>intended</u> that it should extend for a longer period than a year, <u>it is</u> <u>within the statute of frauds</u>, though it cannot be said that there is any impossibility preventing its performance within a year. *Yates* at 344; Opinion at page 3.

The holding of the Fifth District Court of Appeal herein simply mirrors the exact *Yates* legal standard articulated above. The Fifth District Court of Appeal found that "[t]o suggest that these parties intended and agreed in 1993 that they would win the lottery, split the proceeds, and dissolve their romantic relationship in the span of one year, and that they intended anything other than a long-term relationship is belied by Browning's own testimony and the testimony of his own witnesses." Opinion at page 4. After determining that the parties intended that the agreement should extend for a longer period than a year, the Fifth District Court of Appeal followed the holding of the *Yates* opinion expressly. Thus, there is no conflict between the Fifth District Court of Appeal below and the Florida Supreme Court decision in *Yates v. Ball*, and any alleged conflict between the two decisions cannot be the basis of an exercise of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

III. THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS Petitioner seeks to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, asserting that the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal directly and expressly conflicts with several decisions of the Second, Third, and Fourth Districts. However, it is clear that it is the decisions of the Second, Third, and Fourth Districts relied upon in Petitioner's jurisdictional brief that directly conflict with *Yates v. Ball*, and not the Fifth District Court of Appeal decision herein.

A. <u>Gulf Solar, Inc. v. Westfall, 447 So.2d 363 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984)</u>

The Second District Court of Appeal in *Gulf Solar, Inc. v. Westfall*, 447 So.2d 363 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) held that an oral compensation agreement was not barred by the statute of frauds. The management employee at issue was hired for an indefinite term, however, a condition of employment was that the employee complete a sales plan "soon." The employee's failure to complete the sales plan within two (2) months prompted his termination. *Gulf Solar* at 366. From these facts, the Second District articulated a rule that, since "there has been no showing that he could not have performed his duties completely within one year of his hiring the oral agreement involved in this case is not barred by the statute of frauds." *Id.*

The Second District Court of Appeal does not directly cite any precedential legal authority in rendering its decision. Rather, it uses the citation signal "see" when referencing *Yates v. Ball*, 181 So.2d 341 (Fla. 1937). The decision of the

Second District Court of Appeal does conflict with the decision in the instant case of the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The Fifth District Court of Appeal appropriately relies on the language from *Yates*, that "if from the object to be accomplished by it and the surrounding circumstances, it clearly appears that the parties intended that it should extend for a longer period than a year, it is within the statute of frauds." *Yates* at 344. This Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, and affirm the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case based on the authority of *Yates v. Ball*.

B. <u>Byam v. Klopcich, 454 So.2d 720 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984)</u>

In a case with facts that were "virtually identical" to *Gulf Solar*, the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Byam v. Klopcich*, 454 So.2d 720 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) granted a rehearing of its previous determination regarding the statute of frauds "relying on the same reasoning applied in the recent decision of the Second District in *Gulf Solar, Inc. v. Westfall*, 447 So.2d 363 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984)." *Byam* holds that "[t]he general rule is that an oral contract for an indefinite time is not barred by the Statute of Frauds," and that "**[o]nly** if a contract could not possibly be performed within one year would it fall within the statute." *Byam* at 721, *citing Yates* and *Gulf Solar*. However, this is an incorrect statement of the controlling authority. The *Byam* court, similar to the *Gulf Solar* court, ¹ neglected to include the

¹ And understandably similar, as the court admittedly adopted the same flawed reasoning as the *Gulf Solar* court.

qualifying rule explicitly carved out by the *Yates* court.² The majority decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case does conflict with the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Byam*, and this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, and affirm the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case based on the authority of *Yates v. Ball*.

C. *Wilcox v. Lang Equities, Inc.*, 588 So.2d 318 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992)

In *Wilcox v. Lang Equities, Inc.*, 588 So.2d 318 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's judgment on the pleadings on a statute of frauds defense. In the underlying case, a hotel sued a corporation selling dive packages for families to recover the hotel fee. Hotel fees were paid for the first eleven (11) months, and then were collected by the dive package operation for the next four (4) months, but not paid to the hotel. The *Wilcox* court held that "to make a parol contract void, it must be apparent that it was the understanding of the parties that it was not to be performed within a year from the time it is made," and that "[w]hen no definite time is fixed by the parties for performance of their agreement, and there is nothing in its terms to show that it could not be performed within a year, according to its intent and the understanding of the parties, it should

² "The general rule so stated is subject to the **qualifying rule** that when no time is agreed on for the complete performance of the contract, if from the object to be accomplished by it and the surrounding circumstances, **it clearly appears that the parties intended that it should extend for a longer period than a year**, it is within the statute of frauds, though it cannot be said that there is any impossibility preventing its performance within a year." *Yates v. Ball*, 181 So. 341, 344 (1937).

not be construed as being within the statute of frauds." *Wilcox* at 320 (internal citations omitted). The first holding, which cites *Yates*, is a correct statement of the law to the effect that, in circumstances where it is apparent that the parties understand the contract is not to be performed within a year, the parol contract is void. *See id*. However, the second holding regarding the necessity of the *ability* of a contract to be performed within a year as a controlling factual issue, is contrary to Florida law and conflicts with the Fifth District Court of Appeal decision at issue herein, as well as the Florida Supreme Court in *Yates*. This Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, and affirm the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case on the authority of *Yates v. Ball*.

D. <u>Acoustic Innovations, Inc. v. Schafer</u>, 976 So.2d 1139 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008)

In *Acoustic Innovations, Inc. v. Schafer*, 976 So.2d 1139 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008), the Fourth District Court of Appeal dealt with an oral argument to transfer a fifty percent (50%) stock interest to an employee upon request. The trial court entered a money judgment, and the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed. In so ruling, the Fourth District Court of Appeal completely failed to even cite the seminal case of *Yates v. Ball*, and instead, relied upon *Byam*, when it determined that a party is only barred by the statute of frauds if it is proven that the oral contract is "incapable of being performed within one year," and that "only if a contract could not possibly be performed within one year would it fall within the

statute." *Acoustic* at 1443, citing *Byam*. The Fourth District Court of Appeal thereby completely strayed from the precedential authority of *Yates v. Ball*. As such, the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal below does conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Acoustic*. This Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, and affirm the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case based on the authority of *Yates v. Ball*.

CONCLUSION

Respondent submits that, if this Court exercises jurisdiction based on a certified question of law, that this Court should consider only the question certified by the majority below, and not the minority question posed, as urged by Petitioner. Respondent requests that this Court exercise discretionary jurisdiction on the grounds that the Fifth District Court of Appeal has rendered a decision that is in conflict with the decisions of the Second, Third, and Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Gulf Solar, Byam, Wilcox,* and *Acoustic Innovations*. Respondent requests that this Court find that the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal below is consistent with the Florida Supreme Court decision of *Yates v. Ball,* and that there are no grounds to certify a conflict between the decision below and *Yates v. Ball.*